NO. 68311-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

RAYMOND ATCHISON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable Larry McKeeman, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

REBECCA WOLD BOUCHEY Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on fourth degree assault instruction as an inferior degree offense to second degree assault with a deadly weapon. CP 61, 63, 64, 65.
- The trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on unlawful display of a weapon instruction as a lesser included offense of second degree assault with a deadly weapon. CP 66, 67.

Issue Pertaining to Assignments of Error

Did the trial court commit reversible err by failing to grant the defense request for inferior degree and lesser included offense instructions that were supported by the law and the evidence?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At approximately 7:30 p.m. at a Marysville Jack in the Box, witnesses claim appellant Raymond Atchison, while brandishing a pocket knife, approached Cory Mehler as he sat eating with a group of friends, and grabbed him. 1RP¹ 48-49. Mehler's friend, Tim Lankhaar, immediately stood up and pulled Atchison away. 1RP 48.

¹ There are two volumes of verbatim report of proceedings referenced as follows: 1RP - 1/9/12; and 2RP - 1/10/12.

Atchison stood staring at Lankhaar with the knife at his side until a friend of his convinced him to leave. 1RP 50-53.

At trial, Lankhaar claimed he saw Atchison approach Mehler, lean in and touch him while holding a pocketknife against Mehler's chest. 1RP 48-49. The knife was flat against Mehler, not pointed at him or against his skin. 1RP 60.

Lankhaar claimed that when he shoved Atchison away from Mehler, Atchison turned towards him and stood with his arms tense but down at his sides, with the knife in his hand, but not pointing at Lankhaar. 1RP 50-51, 62. Atchison gave Lankhaar a light push in the chest, which Lankhaar described as a typical "dominance" push between men. 1RP 55, 63-64. Lankhaar asked Atchison, "You're really going to stab me in the middle of the f—ing Jack in the Box?" 1RP 51. Atchison did not respond or say anything to Lankhaar, threatening or otherwise. 1RP 52, 54, 68. Atchison never touched Lankhaar with the knife. 1RP 64. Atchison left without saying anything and without approaching Mehler again. 1RP 66.

Lankhaar said the incident made him feel "threatened" and "a little" fearful he might be stabbed. 1RP 69. Lankhaar thought Atchison seemed to be under the influence. 1RP 65.

Mehler remembered the incident differently. According to Mehler, Atchison walked up behind him, hit him in the side of his head with an open hand, and put the knife to his throat. 1RP 21-22. He said he felt the blade on his skin, but was not cut. 1RP 22, 23. Mehler said after ten to fifteen seconds, Lankhaar pulled Atchison away. 1RP 24, 38. Atchison turned back to Mehler again and put his knife to Mehler's stomach. 1RP 23. According to Mehler, Atchison seemed "confused," and "crazy." 1RP 31. Mehler said the incident made him afraid his throat would be cut. 1RP 24.

Mehler was the only one of the seven eyewitnesses to testify that Atchison hit him. 1RP 60, 84, 94, 105-6; 2RP 11, 25-6. Mehler was also the only witness to claim Atchison made threats, and that Atchison approached him again after Lankhaar intervened. 1RP 23-24, 31-32, 81, 96; 2RP 12, 26.

The five men sitting with Mehler and Lankhaar - Brian Skywalker, Nicholas Fritzberg, Patrick Malone, Jordan Slagle and James Allen - also testified. Each had a somewhat different version of events.

Skywalker claimed Atchison put a knife on Mehler's chest, but never touched his neck. 1RP 79. Skywalker recalled that less than ten seconds later, Lankhaar pulled Atchison away. 1RP 72.

According to Skywalker, Atchison stood looking at Lankhaar with his knife pointed generally in his direction. 1RP 73. Skywalker confirmed that Atchison never touched Lankhaar with the knife. 1RP 80.

Fritzberg testified Atchison had a knife pointed at Mehler's stomach. 1RP 87-88. The knife was not against Mehler's throat. 1RP 95. He told police Atchison did not use the knife in a threatening manner against Mehler. 2RP 73-4. He said that when Lankhaar pulled Atchison away after ten seconds, Atchison stood a foot away from him and had the knife generally pointed in Lankhaar's direction, "but it wasn't really threatening." 1RP 89, 96. Ten seconds later, Atchison left. 1RP 89.

Malone testified he thought Atchison was giving Mehler a hug when he grabbed Mehler by his collar. 1RP 100. He said when Lankhaar pulled him away, Atchison held the knife in his hand pointed down and did not point it at anyone. 1RP 100, 102.

Allen saw Atchison walking toward Mehler. 2RP 17. He testified Atchison opened the pocketknife as he approached, but kept it at his side. 2RP 17. Allen said Atchison brought the knife up near Mehler's neck, but did not touch him with it, and said, "What the f—ck are you looking at?" 2RP 18, 26. Allen

remembered that Lankhaar immediately pulled Atchison away and then pushed Atchison. 2RP 19. Atchison stood apart from Lankhaar with his knife to the side with the blade pointed toward Lankhaar, but not swinging the knife. 2RP 10, 26. When Atchison's friend came in, she yelled, "What are you doing, you don't even know these people." 2RP 21. Atchison looked under the influence and "freaked out." 2RP 27.

The witnesses described the knife as a pocketknife with a serrated blade that was between two and four inches in length. 1RP 22, 28, 29, 49, 62, 79, 89, 101; 2RP 17, 21.

Atchison was arrested shortly after the incident. 2RP 44. A search of the car Atchison was in at the time of his arrested uncovered a folding knife with a wood handle and 3.5 inch blade. 2RP 44, 45, 69. There were also multiple open containers of alcohol. 2RP 54.

Atchison was charged with two counts of second degree assault with a deadly weapon. CP 77-78; RCW 9A.36.021(c). Atchison proposed lesser offense instructions for fourth degree assault and unlawful display of a weapon. 2RP 76-77, CP 61, 63-67. The court refused to give them, concluding the evidence did

not support the inference that only the lesser offenses were committed. 2RP 84.

The jury found Atchison guilty as charged, including that he was armed with a deadly weapon. CP 30-33; 2RP 129. The court imposed standard range sentences, plus 12 months on each conviction for the deadly weapon sentencing enhancements. CP 17; 1RP 113. Atchison appeals. CP 1-13.

C. ARGUMENT

ATCHISON'S SECOND DEGREE ASSAULT CONVICTIONS MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE THE COURT WRONGLY DECLINED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON FOURTH DEGREE ASSAULT AND UNLAWFUL DISPLAY OF A WEAPON.

Defense counsel requested instructions on the inferior degree of fourth degree assault and lesser included offense of unlawful display of a weapon. The trial court denied these requests on the erroneously conclusion that there was no evidence to show only the lesser offenses were committed. Affirmative evidence in the record, when viewed in the light most favorable to Atchison, supported giving the requested instructions. This Court should therefore reverse Atchison's convictions and remand for a new trial.

 Atchison was entitled to have the jury instructed on fourth degree assault as a lesser degree offense of second degree assault with a deadly weapon.

A defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed not only on the charged offense, but also on all lesser included offenses and offenses that are an inferior degree of the charged offense. RCW 10.61.006; RCW 10.61.003. A defendant is entitled to an instruction on an inferior degree offense when: (1) the statutes for both the charged offense and the proposed inferior degree offense "proscribe but one offense;" (2) the information charges an offense that is divided into degrees, and the proposed offense is an inferior degree of the charged offense; and (3) there is evidence that the defendant committed only the inferior offense. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 454, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). The first two factors are the legal component of the test, while the third factor is the factual component. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 455.

Atchison was charged with second degree assault with a deadly weapon, which is committed if one "assaults another with a deadly weapon." RCW 9A.36.021; CP 77-78. The defense requested an instruction for the inferior degree offense of fourth degree assault. 2RP 76-77. RCW 9A.36.041 states that: "[a] person is guilty of assault in the fourth degree if, under

circumstances not amounting to assault in the first, second, or third degree, or custodial assault, he or she assaults another." Fourth degree assault is clearly an inferior degree to second degree assault and therefore meets the legal prongs of the test.

The trial court refused to give the proposed instruction based on its conclusion the defense failed to satisfy the factual prong of the test. 2RP 84. The factual prong of the test is met when the evidence raises an inference that only the lesser offense was committed. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 455. In other words, a requested jury instruction on a lesser offense must be given, "[i]f the evidence would permit a jury to rationally find a defendant guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater." Fernandez-Medina, at 456 (quoting State v. Warden, 133 Wn.2d 559, 563, 947 P.2d 708 (1997)).

In applying the factual prong, a court must view the evidence as a whole in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction to determine whether the evidence supports the instruction. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 456. Although the defendant must be able to point to the affirmative evidence supporting the instruction, this evidence need not come from the defendant alone or at all. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 456.

An instruction requested by the defendant may be warranted even if it contradicts the defendant's theory of the case. <u>Fernandez-Medina</u>, at 456-58.

The factual prong for a fourth degree assault instruction was met here because the evidence supported an inference the knife used was not a deadly weapon, and therefore Atchison was guilty only of fourth degree assault. Specifically, viewed in the light most favorable to Atchison, the evidence supported the inference that the knife was not used in a manner that was "likely to produce or may easily and readily produce death."

The jury was instructed that: "Deadly weapon means any weapon, device, instrument, substance, or article, which under the circumstances in which it is used, attempted to be used, or threatened to be used, is readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm." CP 50. In State v. Shilling, this Court held that under RCW 9A.04.110(6), the circumstances of use include "the intent and present ability of the user, the degree of force, the part of the body to which it was applied and the physical injuries inflicted." State v. Shilling, 77 Wn. App. 166, 169, 889 P.2d 948 (1995) (quoting State v. Sorenson, 6 Wn. App. 269, 273, 492 P.2d 233 (1972)).

Under Schilling, the evidence here, viewed in the light most favorable to Atchison, supports an inference the knife was not used as a deadly weapon. The "degree of force" used against Mehler was arguably minimal. Although Mehler testified he was struck, everyone else testified Atchison only grabbed or touched him. Several witnesses describe Atchison as grabbing Mehler with the knife in his hand, but with the knife not touching or being used against Mehler in a threatening manner. 1RP 48-49, 60, 79, 100; 2RP 73-4. One witness testified he thought Atchison was only hugging Mehler. 1RP 100.

With regard to Lankhaar, most witnesses agreed Atchison did not touch him at all and held the knife against his side while he stood facing Lankhaar. 1RP 62, 64, 73, 89, 96, 100, 102; 2RP 10, 26. Thus, Atchison did not use force at all against Lankhaar. The evidence therefore supports an inference the knife was not used as a deadly weapon in either count.

Shilling also looked to "the part of the body to which the knife was applied." The evidence on this factor was disputed with regard to Mehler, with some witnesses claiming the knife was held flat against Mehler's chest, while others claimed the knife was against Mehler's throat. 1RP 48-49, 79, 87-88, 95; 2RP 18, 26. Viewed in

the light most favorable to Atchison, however, the evidence supports an inference the knife was not used as a deadly weapon against Mehler. In the incident involving Lankhaar, most witnesses agree Atchison did not touch him with the knife at all, but only held it against his side as he looked at Lankhaar. 1RP 62, 64, 73, 89, 96, 100, 102; 2RP 10, 26. Whether Atchison ever even pointed the knife at Lankhaar was in dispute. As with Mehler, the evidence supports an inference the knife was not used as a deadly weapon against Lankhaar.

The fourth Shilling factor is the physical injuries inflicted. No injuries were inflicted here, so this factor clearly supports a finding the knife was not used as a deadly weapon against either Mehler or Lankhaar.

The final Shilling factor is "the intent and present ability of the user." There is evidence here to support an inference that Atchison had no intent to use the knife as a deadly weapon. With regard to the Mehler, most witnesses testified Atchison made no threats. 1RP 74, 87, 68, 81, 107; 2RP 14, 27. One witness told police that Atchison did not use the knife in a threatening manner against Mehler. 2RP 73-74. With regard to Lankhaar, several witnesses, including Lankhaar himself, testified Atchison never

made any threats. 1RP 52, 54, 68, 81, 107; 2RP 14, 27. In these circumstances, the jury could have found Atchison had no intent to use the knife as a deadly weapon.

Taking into account all of the evidence, it is sufficient to support an inference the knife was not used in a manner that was likely to produce death or bodily harm and was therefore not a deadly weapon. If it was not a deadly weapon, then Atchison was not guilty of second degree assault as charged and tried.

The State may argue the jury finding that the knife was a deadly weapon for purposes of the enhancement precludes any argument it would have found Atchison was not armed with a deadly weapon for purposes of the charged assaults. See CP 30, 32. This argument should be rejected, however, because what may constitute a "deadly weapon" for sentence enhancement purposes does not necessarily equate to a "deadly weapon" for purposes of second degree assault as charged and tried here.

The jury was instructed according to RCW 9.94A.602 that a knife with a blade exceeding three inches is per se a deadly weapon for purposes of the enhancement. CP 55. Therefore, the jury could have concluded from the testimony that the knife was over three inches in length and therefore was a deadly weapon per

se for purposes of the enhancement. But to find Atchison guilty of second degree assault under the deadly weapon prong as charged, the jury had to find he used it in a manner likely to produce bodily harm. CP 50, State v. Winings, 126 Wn. App. 75, 87-88, 107 P.3d 141 (2005). Because the evidence supported an inference that he did not, given the opportunity and appropriate instructions, the jury might have convicted Atchison of fourth degree assault rather than second degree assault.

When viewed in the light most favorable to Atchison, the evidence supported the defense request to instruct the jury on the inferior degree offense of fourth degree assault on both charged counts. The trial court's refusal to do so constitutes reversible error.

 Atchison was entitled to have the jury instructed on unlawful display of a weapon as a lesser included offense to second degree assault with a deadly weapon.

Atchison's request for a jury instruction for the lesser included offense of unlawful display of a weapon was also erroneously refused. 2RP 76-77, 84; CP 66, 67. An instruction on a lesser included offense is warranted where: (1) each element of the lesser offense must necessarily be proved to prove the greater

offense as charged (the legal prong); and (2) the evidence in the case supports an inference only the lesser offense was committed (the factual prong). State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 548, 947 P.2d 700 (1997); State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). The legal prong of the Workman test is applied "to the offenses as charged and prosecuted, rather than to the offenses as they broadly appear in statute." Berlin, 133 Wn.2d at 541.

Unlawful display of a weapon meets the legal prong of the test for a lesser included offense instruction because commission of second degree assault with a deadly weapon necessarily results in the commission of the crime of unlawful displaying of a weapon.² In re Crace, 157 Wn. App. 81, 107-8, 236 P.3d 914 (2010). In Crace, this Court found it was error for the trial court to refuse to instruct the jury on unlawful display of a weapon as a lesser included of offense to the charge of second degree assault with a

It shall be unlawful for any person to carry, exhibit, display, or draw any . . . knife or other cutting or stabbing instrument . . . in a manner, under circumstances, and at a time and place that either manifests an intent to intimidate another or that warrants alarm for the safety of other persons.

² RCW 9.41.270(1) states:

deadly weapon. 157 Wn. App. at 108. The Court held that although Crace was armed with a sword, there was a reasonable inference that he did not have the intent to create a reasonable fear or apprehension of bodily injury. <u>Id</u>.

For the count involving Lankhaar, the proposed instruction meets the factual prong. "To convict a defendant of second degree assault, the jury must find specific intent to create reasonable fear and apprehension of bodily injury." State v. Ward, 125 Wn. App. 243, 248, 104 P.3d 670 (2004) (citing State v. Byrd, 125 Wn.2d 707, 713, 887 P.2d 396 (1995)). Mere display of a weapon is insufficient in and of itself to prove intent to create a reasonable fear of bodily injury. Ward, 125 Wn.App. at 248, 104 P.3d 670 (citing State v. Eastmond, 129 Wn.2d 497, 500, 919 P.2d 577 (1996)).

As in <u>Crace</u>, there is evidence here to support an inference Atchison committed only unlawful display of a weapon, rather than second degree assault with a deadly weapon, because the jury could have found Atchison had no intent to create apprehension or fear in Lankhaar. Witnesses testified that after Lankhaar pulled Atchison away from Mehler, Lankhaar stood still and did not touch Atchison. 1RP 73, 100, 102; 2RP 10. There is also evidence that

Atchison merely stood with the knife at his side. 1RP 62, 89, 96, 100, 102. While the knife may have been held generally pointing in Lankhaar's direction, there is also testimony it was not done in a threatening manner. 1RP 89, 96. Most witnesses testified Atchison never said anything threatening. 1RP 68, 74, 81, 87, 107; 2RP 14, 27. Thus, there is evidence from which the jury could have found Atchison did not assault Lankhaar because he never touched Lankhaar in an offensive manner and never acted with intent to create apprehension or fear.

When viewed in the light most favorable to Atchison, the evidence supported a jury finding Atchison only committed the offense of unlawful displayed of a weapon and that he did not assault Lankhaar. Therefore, the trial court erred by refusing the lesser included offense instruction and Atchison conviction for assaulting Lankhaar must be reversed.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The trial court erred by failing to give the proposed inferior degree and lesser included offense instructions. This Court should therefore reverse and remanded for a new trial.

DATED: May 23, 2012

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC

Roberta W. Barchey
Rebecca Wold Bouchey

WSBA No. 26081 Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON)
Respondent,	
v.) COA NO. 68311-0-I
RAYMOND ATCHISON,	{
Appellant.	Ś