68311-0

68311-0

68311-0 NO. 68149-4-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

RAYMOND L. ATCHISON,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

CHARLES F. BLACKMAN Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. OVERVIEW.

Seven people were eating at a restaurant when the defendant approached and pulled a knife on two of them. All seven

men testified. The inevitable discrepancies among that many witnesses' recollections indeed gave the defendant something to work with in cross-examination. Appellant argues that these discrepancies also support an inference that only proposed lesser crimes were committed. He is wrong. Factors that make a case "triable" do not also support instructions on lesser crimes.

B. ONLY FACTUAL PRONG IS AT ISSUE.

.

1. Lesser Crimes Generally; Only Factual Prong At Issue When Considering Lesser-Degree Crime

A defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser-included offense if (1) each element of the lesser offense is a necessary element of the offense charged (the "legal prong"), and (2) the evidence in the case supports an inference that only the lesser crime was committed (the "factual prong"). <u>State v. Berlin</u>, 133 Wn.2d 541, 545-46, 947 P.2d 700 (1997); <u>State v. Workman</u>, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). Both prongs must be satisfied before a lesser-included instruction will be given to the jury. Workman, 90 Wn.2d at 447-48.

In the case of lesser-degree crimes, there is no need to first analyze the legal prong of <u>Workman</u> because the Legislature has already provided that defendant may be convicted of lesser-degree offenses. RCW 10.61.003. Factual-prong analysis remains, and is

the same as that used under <u>Workman</u> for a lesser-included offense instruction. <u>State v. Leremia</u>, 78 Wn. App. 746, 754-55, 899 P.2d 16 (1995).

Since the defendant argues that the jury should have been instructed on the lesser-degree crime of fourth-degree assault, only "factual prong" analysis is implicated.

2. Whether Unlawful Display Of A Weapon Is a Lesser-Included Crime Of Second-Degree Assault Only Turns On The Factual Prong As Well.

To convict a defendant of second degree assault, the jury must find specific intent to create reasonable fear and apprehension of bodily injury. <u>State v. Byrd</u>, 125 Wn.2d 707, 713, 887 P.2d 396 (1995)). To convict on a charge of unlawful display of a weapon, a defendant must "carry, exhibit, display, or draw any knife or other cutting or stabbing instrument . . . or any other weapon apparently capable of producing bodily harm, in a manner, under circumstances, and at a time and place that . . . manifests an intent to intimidate another[.]" RCW 9.41.270(1). Because all the elements of unlawful display of a weapon are also necessary elements of second degree assault, unlawful display of a weapon is a lesser included offense of second degree assault under the legal prong. In re Crace, 157 Wn. App. 81, 107-08, 236 P.3d 914 (2010),

<u>reversed on other grounds</u>, <u>In re Crace</u>, 174 Wn.2d 835, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012) (not per se ineffective assistance for counsel not to request lesser-included instruction); <u>see State v. Berlin</u>, 133 Wn.2d at 548-49, <u>overruling State v. Lucky</u>, 128 Wn.2d 727, 912 P.2d 483 (1996) (<u>Lucky</u> having held to the contrary on legal prong).

3. "Factual Prong" Analysis.

For the second, "factual" prong to apply, the evidence must support the inference that the defendant committed *only* the lesser offense. <u>State v. Gamble</u>, 168 Wn.2d 161, 181, 225 P.3d 973, 984 (2010). (For example, under the factual prong, assault will typically not be a lesser-included crime of murder, for the very fact of death precludes a finding that *only* the lesser offense of assault was committed. <u>In re Andress</u>, 147 Wn.2d 602, 613-14, 56 P.3d 981 (2002), <u>superseded by statute</u>, RCW 9A.32.050 (2005).) It is not sufficient that the jury might simply disbelieve the State's evidence supporting the charged crime. <u>Leremia</u>, 78 Wn. App. at 754-55. Rather, the evidence must support an inference that the defendant committed the lesser offense instead of the greater one. <u>Id., citing State v. Bergeson</u>, 64 Wn. App. 366, 369, 824 P.2d 515 (1992). In conducting the factual-prong inquiry, the evidence is viewed in the

light most favorable to the proponent of the instruction. <u>State v.</u> Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000).

C. SINCE ONLY THE FACTUAL PRONG IS IMPLICATED IN THIS APPEAL, THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IS ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

The standard of review of the trial court's analysis of the legal prong is de novo, while application of the factual prong is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Walker</u>, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771-72, 966 P.2d 883 (1998). Since only the factual prong is at issue, the deferential standard applies. Discretion is abused if the trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons, or if no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. <u>State v.</u> <u>Alexander</u>, 125 Wn.2d 717, 732, 888 P.2d 1169 (1995); <u>State ex</u> <u>rel. Carroll v. Junker</u>, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971))

D. APPLIED TO THESE FACTS.

•

1. Re Fourth-Degree Assault: Did The Trial Court Abuse Its Discretion In Determining There Was No Affirmative Evidence That The Knife, In The Manner It Was Used, Was Not Deadly?

Under these facts and as charged, the only difference between fourth-degree assault and second-degree assault is the use of a deadly weapon. <u>Compare</u> RCW 9A.36.021(c) and 1 CP

45, 46 ("to convict" instructions) with RCW 9A.30.041. This analysis assumes an assault. The question for the trial court to resolve was whether there was any affirmative evidence that the knife, in the manner it was used, was not a deadly weapon.

.

There was not. With respect to Mehler, Mehler himself said that the defendant held the knife against his throat and stomach. 1 Trial RP 21-22. He heard the defendant threaten to stab him. 1 Trial RP 23, 28, 31. Lankhaar saw the knife held flat against Mehler's "breast plate" or "chest plate." 1 Trial RP 47-49, 60-61. Skywalker saw the defendant put the knife to Mehler's chest, pointing towards the neck. 1 Trial RP 72. Fritzberg saw the defendant point the knife at Mehler's stomach, in a threatening manner. 1 Trial RP 87-88, 93, 94-96. Allen saw and heard the defendant flick the knife open, then bring it to Mehler's neck area. 2 Trial RP 18. Mehler thought he was going to get his throat slashed. 1 Trial RP 24.

In the case of Lankhaar, Mehler recalls the defendant threatening to stab Lankhaar, too. 1 Trial RP 23, 28, 31. Lankhaar, Skywalker, Slagle, Fritzberg and Allen all saw the defendant holding the knife pointed at Lankhaar. 1 Trial RP 51, 62, 73-74, 88-89; 2 Trial RP 9, 12, 20. And this was at close quarters, too:

only one to three feet apart. 1 Trial RP 73-74, 89. With both men standing, this would necessarily mean the knife was pointed at Lankhaar's chest or stomach. And this was a *knife*. A simple lunge could have seriously injured or killed Lankhaar. As for Mehler, a knife at or near his throat was potentially very deadly indeed.

.

With respect to both victims, the knife the defendant wielded was a device "which, under the circumstances in which it is used, attempted to be used, or threatened to be used, [was] readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm." RCW 9A.04.110(6), WPIC 2.06.01, 1 CP 50. *There was no affirmative evidence to the contrary.* The trial court did not abuse its discretion when, examining these facts, it declined to instruct the jury on the lesser-degree crime of fourth-degree assault.

2. Re Unlawful Display Of A Weapon: Did The Trial Court Abuse Its Discretion In Determining There Was No Affirmative Evidence That The Defendant's Conduct Fell Short Of An Assault?

Assault includes the mens rea of intending to create reasonable fear and apprehension of bodily injury. WPIC 35.50; <u>State v. Byrd</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 713. Second-degree assault couples this mental state to the use of a deadly weapon. RCW 9A.36.021(c). The corresponding mental state for unlawful display

of a weapon is the intent to intimidate another, through the use of a knife or other instrument capable of producing bodily harm. RCW 9.41.270(1) and WPIC 133.41. Use of a deadly weapon is thus assumed in this analysis. The difference between the two crimes is one is an assault and the other is not. The question for the trial court to resolve was whether there was any affirmative evidence that the defendant's conduct with the knife fell short of an assault.

.

With respect to Mehler, the testimony was that the defendant held the knife (depending on the witness description) to Mehler's neck or neck area, to his chest, to his chest with the blade pointing to the neck, and to the stomach. 1 Trial RP 21-22, 47-49, 60-61, 72, 87-88, 93, 94-96; 2 Trial RP 18. It was coupled with a threat to stab. 1 Trial RP 23, 28, 31. One cannot argue this was not an assault. And there was no affirmative evidence that the defendant's conduct towards Mehler comprised something less than that.

As for Lankhaar, it is true there was not a touching. But a touching is not required. <u>See</u> WPIC 35.50, third alternative of "common law assault," apprehension of bodily harm. And it is true that merely displaying a weapon, without any actions indicting that its use is imminent, does not constitute an assault. <u>State v.</u>

<u>Murphy</u>, 7 Wn. App. 505, 511-12, 500 P.2d 1276 (1972). But Lankhaar, and four others, saw the defendant holding the knife pointed at Lankhaar. 1 Trial RP 51, 62, 73-74, 88-89; 2 Trial RP 9, 12, 20. And, as for imminent use, this occurred at close quarters. 1 Trial RP 73-74, 89. One to three feet is well within a lunge range. And there was (as recalled by Mehler) a threat to stab. 1 Trial RP 23, 28, 31. Lankhaar himself certainly thought he was in a "bad spot," 1 Trial RP 50, and that he might get stabbed, 1 Trial RP 69.

10

As to Mehler, all three alternate means of assault are satisfied: it was certainly an unconsented touching that was harmful and offensive; it was also an act done with intent to inflict bodily injury, accompanied with apparent present ability to inflict the bodily injury if not prevented; and, lastly, an act with intent to cause in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury, and which in fact creates in another apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury, even though the actor did not intend to inflict bodily injury. WPIC 35.50; 1 CP 47. In the case of Lankhaar, the third means is established.

The defendant may cite to Fritzberg's statement that, even though the men stood a foot apart, the defendant did not hold the knife in a threatening manner, 1 Trial RP 96, or to Malone's

recollection that the defendant simply held the knife at his side, with the blade pointing down, as he faced Lankhaar. 1 Trial RP 102, 106. If all that had happened was a confrontation with Lankhaar, this might carry some weight as affirmative evidence that only an unlawful display of weapon had occurred. But there had already just been the assault on Mehler that all the witnesses, to a greater or lesser extent, were aware of, Lankhaar in particular. "[W]hether or not there has been an assault in a particular case depends more upon the apprehension created in the mind of the person assaulted than in the undisclosed intention of the person assaulting." <u>Murphy</u>, 7 Wn. App. at 511.

· • •

"[I]f, within shooting distance, one menacingly points at another with a gun, apparently loaded yet not in fact, he commits an assault the same as if it were loaded; there must be some power, actual or apparent, of doing bodily harm; but apparent power is sufficient." <u>Murphy</u>, 7 Wn. App. at 511. Similarly, if one menacingly points a knife at another, within stabbing distance, he commits an assault. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that there was no affirmative evidence that only an unlawful display occurred.

IV. CONCLUSION

The judgment and sentence should be affirmed.